RECEIVED

Jan 30 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CANDIE M. SHEARIN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-001594

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GARY H. JOHNSON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Does a trial court commit reversible error in failing to properly charge the jury on the criminal intent requirement for conviction of abuse of a vulnerable adult under S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-85 (2010)?

- II. Does a trial court commit reversible error in admitting death scene and autopsy photographs which show graphic and disturbing images to prove character of the accused rather than contested facts over Rule 403, SCRE, objection?

- III. Does a trial court commit reversible error when it does not require the state to at least attempt to present a complete chain of custody for fungible evidence that naturally degrades over time?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Candie Shearin was indicted for abuse of a vulnerable adult causing death under S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-85 (2010) by a Lexington County grand jury on February 11, 2019. R. 527. She was tried before the Honorable Walter J. McLeod IV and a jury on November 7-10, 2022. At trial, appellant was represented by Anna Williams Yonge, Jason T. Yonge, and Robert T. Williams. Angela G. Martin and Rhonda W. Patterson represented the state.

On November 10, 2022, the jury convicted appellant of abuse of a vulnerable adult causing great bodily injury as a lesser included offense to the original charge. R. 522, ll. 11-23. Judge McLeod sentenced appellant to fourteen years. R. 526, ll. 15-19.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant Candie Shearin's son, Michael Shearin, suffered from Pelizaeus-Merzbacher disease (PMD), a rare genetic disorder that leads to muscle spasticity, contractures, and developmental limitations. R. 60, l. 13 - 61, l. 22. At the time of his death, it was uncontested that Michael Shearin was twenty-five years old, was a vulnerable adult, and that appellant had been his primary in home caregiver his entire life. R. 17, l. 21 - 18, l. 16; 23, l. 13 - 24, l. 15. Due to the severity of his PMD, he had "exceeded the average life expectancy of his underlying genetic condition" at the time of his death. R. 62, ll. 23-25. Michael Shearin's particular form of PMD caused severe contracture and immobility and he was non-verbal. R. 81, l. 6 - 82, l. 7. The state's abuse and neglect case centered on the condition of a decubitus ulcer over the sacral area of Michael Shearin's spine, his weight loss, lack of proper medication and nutrition, and general cleanliness and lack of personal care.

Prior to 2016, Michael Shearin experienced osteomyelitis, an infection of the bone, and a meticillin-sensitive staph (MSSA) infection from an internal Baclofen pump in 2014. R. 65, l. 7 - 66, l. 25. Osteomyelitis in the acute form was difficult to treat and can become chronic with active ulcers. R. 67, l. 1 - 68 l. 24. Michael Shearin's medication and nutrition were provided by a feeding tube, and his caloric intake was based upon a prescription. R. 64, ll. 6-13; 81, l. 2 - 83, l. 10.

In December of 2015, Michael Shearin weighed 138 pounds. R. 41, ll. 19-22. His caloric requirements would have been impacted by any infection, as the body would require additional calories to deal with the infection. R. 68, ll. 16-25; 82, l. 8 - 83, l. 10. On November 1, 2016, appellant took Michael Shearin to the doctor due to an open wound on his back which required hospitalization and IV antibiotics. R. 42, ll. 5-15. This was identified as a stage 4 decubitus ulcer

over the sacral area of his spine just above the buttocks.¹ R. 46, ll. 14-24. Michael Shearin was seen again on February 14 and March 15, 2017 as follow up. R. 47, l. 8 – 50, l. 7. While the sacral ulcer had not improved, there was no sign of active infection on March 15, 2017. R. 50, ll. 8-24. At this visit, Michael Shearin weighed 70 pounds, and *no concern* was noted about his weight or weight loss. R. 50, ll. 4-15. No change in his dietary needs was charted. Dr. Michael Talente, an expert in internal medicine who treated Michael Shearin during this time, indicated active infection would lead weight loss without additional caloric intake. R. 30, ll. 9 – 12; 35, l. 8 – 36, l. 9; 68, ll. 1 – 24. In a follow up visit on June 7, 2017, the sacral ulcer was improved but was still at stage 3, with some improvement noted on July 26, 2017. R. 51, l. 13 –24. The doctor noted at this visit that appellant was doing her best to “keep up with everything” and brought her son to all appointments. R. 80, l. 2 – 81, l. 1. On September 22, 2017, a nurse with All Caregivers, visited the Shearin home and noted no concerns about the home conditions or Michael Shearin’s condition, and she was familiar with both have noted issues with the condition of the home earlier in the year. R. 176, 1 – 20.

Adult Protective Services visited the Shearin home several times during 2017. These included a surprise visit on February 3, 2017, shortly after appellant’s husband had died, which showed the house was a mess but that Michael Shearin’s condition was not a concern. R. 201, l. 22 – 204, l. 23. An April 10, 2017, visit showed a cleaner household environment and the case was closed as unfounded. R. 206, ll. 4-19. A new case was opened in July of 2017, but again was closed as unfounded following a home visit on August 17, 2017. R. 206, l. 18 – 208, l. 3.

¹ Dr. Talente identified a decubitus ulcer as commonly referred known as a bed sore. R. 43, ll. 5-7.

A special bed was ordered that would assist in preventing typical “bed sore” ulcers from forming but was not available until after the onset of the ulcer that formed on November 1, 2016. R. 49, ll. 2 – 22. The medically prescribed bed was needed since, due to Michael Shearin’s genetic deformities, frequent positional changes by hand would be difficult and uncomfortable for him. R. 49, ll. 16 – 22. It was not installed in the home until between March of 2017 and July of 2017. R. 54, ll. 9-24.

On December 20, 2017, appellant called 911 indicating her son was unresponsive at 5:41 p.m. R. 212, ll. 2 -9; 224, ll. 3 – 11; 231, ll. 15 – 25. Emergency services arrived shortly thereafter. R. 212, ll. 2 -9; 224, ll. 3 – 11. Michael Shearin’s body was in the home until after 9:00 p.m. that evening. R. 305, ll. 17 – 22; 308, ll. 17 – 23. The state failed to introduce any evidence on the removal of the body from the home or how it was stored overnight before transport to autopsy.

The following day, the Lexington County coroner’s office transported Michael Shearin’s body to Newberry County Medical Center. R. 421, ll. 5 – 25. Deputy Coroner Clardy attended the autopsy and transported the body, but the state did not present evidence concerning the body’s removal from the home after 9:00 p.m. the evening of December 20, 2017, to its transport for autopsy the morning of December 21, 2017. The autopsy was begun at 8:30 a.m. R. 421, ll. 5 – 7. At the time of the autopsy, Dr. Janice Ross, the pathologist, did not have a scale but *estimated* Michael Shearin’s weight at fifty pounds. R. 421, ll. 5-12; 428, ll. 8-12. Ross testified Michael Shearin died of sepsis from e-coli bacteria entering the bloodstream due to the decubitus ulcer. R. 433, l. 5 – 434, l. 10. She had never heard of Pelizaeus-Merzbacher disease (PMD). R. 436, ll. 15-16. She was not aware that Michael Shearin had a history of osteomyelitis and an active decubitus ulcer in the same location for over a year before his death. R. 436, ll. 11-16; 438, ll. 8-21.

The state's chemist indicated the importance of refrigeration of blood samples to avoid microbial growth, among other concerns. R. 406, ll. 13 – 24. The state's toxicologist went to great lengths to explain the refrigeration of samples during testing. R. 367, l. 6 – 368, l. 2.

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court erred in failing to properly charge the jury on the criminal intent requirement for conviction of abuse of a vulnerable adult under S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-85 (2010).

A. Standard of Review

[T]he trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial. An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion. Moreover, '[t]o warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.'

State v. Grier, 427 S.C. 107, 117, 828 S.E.2d 782, 787 (Ct. App. 2019) (internal citations omitted).

B. The trial court erred in defining the criminal intent required for conviction under S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-85 (2010).

Appellant was charged with violating S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-85(F): "A person who knowingly and wilfully abuses or neglects a vulnerable adult resulting in death is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be imprisoned not more than thirty years." Ultimately, she was convicted under S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-85(E): "A person who knowingly and wilfully abuses or neglects a vulnerable adult resulting in great bodily injury is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be imprisoned not more than fifteen years." The trial court also submitted the lesser included offense of a violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-85(C) for "knowingly and wilfully" neglecting a vulnerable adult.

The trial court was obligated to explain the terms "knowingly" and "willfully" as they are the criminal intent mandated by the statute for all three offenses the jury considered. See State v. Miles, 421 S.C. 154, 164, 805 S.E.2d 204, 210 (Ct. App. 2017).

The required *mens rea* for a particular crime can be classified into a hierarchy of culpable states of mind in descending order of culpability, as purpose, knowledge, recklessness, and negligence. At common law, crimes generally were classified as requiring either ‘general intent’ or ‘specific intent.’ This venerable distinction, however, has been the source of a good deal of confusion. Thus, the commentators and Model Penal Code have rejected the traditional dichotomy in favor of the hierarchical approach.

State v. Jefferies, 316 S.C. 13, 18, 446 S.E.2d 427, 430 (1994).

In the present case, the Legislature has specifically determined the criminal intent element – knowledge and willfulness. This level of *mens rea* must be more than simple negligence or even recklessness, and the trial judge should have instructed the jury on the difference to avoid improperly lowering the *mens rea* element required for conviction. See State v. Jenkins, 278 S.C. 219, 222, 294 S.E.2d 44, 45–46 (1982) (“By failing to include ‘knowingly’ or other apt words to indicate criminal intent or motive, we think the legislature intended that one who simply, without knowledge or intent that his act is criminal, fails to provide proper care and attention for a child or helpless person of whom he has legal custody, so that the life, health, and comfort of that child or helpless person is endangered or is likely to be endangered, violates ... the Code.”).

The pertinent portion of the charge in this case follows:

To prove the defendant guilty of the crime, the State must also prove beyond a reasonable doubt the Defendant acted with criminal intent. *The criminal intent required in this case is that the Defendant must be proven to have acted knowingly and willfully. To act knowingly means to act with knowledge, to consciously, not accidentally. To act willfully, means to act voluntarily and intentionally. A willful act like a knowing act is not accident.*

R. 514, l. 25 – 516, l. 9 (emphasis added).

By contrast, the appellant requested clear and unambiguous language that would have assisted the jury in eliminating the reckless or negligent theories from consideration:

[K]nowingly means that the defendant knew or firmly believed that her actions constituted neglect. Mere suspicion is not enough. See State v. Porterfield, 317 S.C 360, 363, 454 S.C.2d 351, 353, Court of Appeals, 1995. It is also not enough that the facts would be sufficient to put a reasonably prudent person on notice. See, State v. White, 211 S.C. 276, 279; 44 S.E.2d 741, 742, 1947. The question for you is not whether a reasonable person in the defendant's shoes would know that the defendant's actions constituted neglect, rather if you first find that the Defendant's actions constituted neglect, you must then determine if the defendant knew or firmly believed that her actions constituted neglect. Willful means intentional. Willful means it was not done by accident. See South Carolina Criminal Request to Charge Arson in the Third Degree. *A willful act is one done voluntarily and intentionally with the specific intent to do something the law forbids or with the specific intent to fail to do something the law requires to be done; that is to say with bad purpose either to disobey or disregard the law.*

R. 473, l. 19 – 474, l. 14 (emphasis added).

The limited nature of the charge provided by the trial court here was error. In ruling on the appellant's requested charge, the trial judge noted "I certainly think you can point out all of that about willful and knowingly in your arguments today, so your record is -- your objections are noted." R. 467, ll. 1-3. The charging error was compounded by the trial court's decision to omit the knowingly and willfully language from the verdict form. R. 462 The trial court's verdict form allowed the jury to consider conviction for abuse of a vulnerable adult causing death, or resulting in great bodily injury, or of neglect, or of not guilty. R. 462. Appellant objected to the omission of the willful and knowing language from the verdict form on the ground that "removing that language from the statute you're inadvertently drawing attention to the rest of it in putting it on the verdict form." R. 466, 18 - 21.

By failing to fully define the intent element and by omitting the statutory required intent from the verdict form, the trial court committed reversible error. This allowed a lower criminal intent consideration, such as negligence or recklessness, to be used by the jury. Since the trial

court was required to define the terms that establish the *mens rea* element for conviction under S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-85 (2010), a new trial is warranted with clear instruction from this Court on the proper jury charge in this setting.²

² Defense counsel at trial was unable to find specific charge language in connection with S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-85 (2010) and crafted one from other “knowing” and “willful” criminal intent areas of law. App. 526, ll. 18-21. This Court can now clarify the proper language to be used in similarly situated cases.

II. The trial court erred in admitting several photographs of Michael Shearin taken at the scene of his death and from his autopsy, over appellant's Rule 403, SCRE, objection, which showed the graphic nature of his underlying, genetic deformity.

A. Standard of Review.

“Photographs calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury should be excluded if they are irrelevant or not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions. To be classified as unfairly prejudicial, photographs must have a tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.” State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228–29 (2010) (internal citations omitted). “[T]he standard is not simply whether the evidence is prejudicial; rather, the standard under Rule 403, SCRE is whether there is a danger of unfair prejudice that substantially outweighs the probative value of the evidence.” State v. Benton, 435 S.C. 250, 266, 865 S.E.2d 919, 927 (Ct. App. 2021). “Moreover, ‘[I]t is well-established that photographs calculated to arouse the sympathies and prejudices of the jury are to be excluded if they are irrelevant or unnecessary to the issues at trial.’” State v. Nelson, No. 2021-001356, 2023 WL 5075051, at 3 (S.C. Aug. 9, 2023)

B. The trial court erred in admitting graphic autopsy and death scene photographs that were unduly prejudicial.

In this case, appellant did not contest any of the state's allegations regarding the presence of a stage 4 decubitus ulcer at the time of Michael Shearin's death. Appellant did not contest Michael Shearin's weight loss. Appellant did not contest the presence of maggots on the wound. Appellant did not object to numerous photographs that depicted the condition of the residence, the specialized bed and its bedding, or numerous other photographs offered by the state. What appellant did object to were photographs depicting her deceased son, both from the scene of his

death and his autopsy. Specifically, the nature of Michael Shearin's underlying genetic disorder and long battle with a significant stage 4 decubitus ulcer make the images in question unduly prejudicial and are graphic enough to generate an emotional response rather than a decision based upon the evidence. During trial, this centered on state's exhibits 9, 10, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 48 and 60, as noted *infra*.³ Appellant objected to the introduction of these photographs under Rule 403, SCRE, as they were calculated to inflame jury passions, were unduly prejudicial, and unnecessary due to the descriptions the witnesses would offer. Tr, 182, ll. 16-22; 186, ll. 16-24.

As noted, Michael Shearin suffered from Pelizaeus-Merzbacher disease (PMD), a rare genetic disorder that caused him significant and deforming muscle spasticity and contractures. R. 60, l. 13 - 61, l. 22. His body was contorted and deformed from the natural progression of his disease. It was so rare, the medical experts called at trial were either unaware of the condition or had seen it only in Michael Shearin or his brother.⁴ For this reason alone, the photographs should have been excluded as they depict a body deformed by the natural progression of a genetic disorder that was so rare that the medical experts who testified at trial were not aware of the disease. These included the only medically qualified experts to testify at trial: Dr. Greg Michael Talente (R. 37, ll. 2 – 10; 151, ll. 17 - 23) and Dr. Janice Ross (R. 436, ll. 15 – 16). Appellant was not on trial for the underlying medical condition that radically altered and deformed Michael Shearin's body. By their very nature, these photographs generated an emotional response that encouraged the jury to make their decision, not on the evidence and testimony presented, but on that emotional response to the graphic images.

³ State's exhibits 9, 10, 41-45, 48, and 60 are on file with this Court for review.

⁴ Appellant's other son also suffered from the same disorder. R. 60, ll. 17 – 19.

Appellant objected to the photographs and their graphic nature under Rule 403, SCRE. R. 125, ll. 16 – 24. During the argument over the admission of the various photographs, the solicitor referenced that “jurors are the factfinders, that these photos will aid them in that endeavor, and I think they prove the circumstances of the crime, the knowledge that the defendant should have had and what she willfully ignored. *It goes toward proving her character as well.*” R. 132, ll. 6 – 11 (emphasis added). That the state was motivated, in part, to use the photographs for character purposes is telling.

As to the any relevance the photographs may have provided regarding neglect, there was graphic and detailed testimony from witnesses regarding Michael Shearin’s physical condition at the time of his death offered without objection. This included Lexington County EMS through Tanee Tedford⁵ (R. 114, l. 4 – 115, l. 14); Lexington County coroner’s office through Jessica Wade⁶ (R. 249, l. 16 – 250, l. 20); and the Lexington County Sherriff’s office through Lieutenant McCann⁷ (R. 283 l. 9 – 23) and Deputy Lyons (R. 309, l. 21 – 310, l. 12). The pathologist testified about the condition of his body in graphic detail.⁸ R. 422, l. 3 – 425, l. 15. There were extensive photographs of appellant’s house and testimony about the living conditions within the house

⁵ State’s Exhibit 48, one of the photographs in issue here, was admitted through Tedford’s testimony subject to appellant’s objection. (R. 215, l. 15 – 216, l. 10).

⁶ State’s Exhibits 41, 42, 43, 44, 45 and 60, additional photographs in issue here, were admitted through Ms. Wade’s testimony subject to appellant’s objection (R. 252, ll. 4 – 11).

⁷ State’s Exhibits 11 – 39 were admitted without objection from the appellant showing the condition of the property, including the hospital bed after Michael Shearin’s body had been removed. (R. 284, ll. 3 - 22).

⁸ State’s Exhibits 9 and 10, two additional photographs in issue here, were admitted through Dr. Ross over appellant’s previous objection. R. 424, ll. 1 – 17.

admitted into evidence without objection. R. 283 l. 9 – 284, l. 24. The photographs at issue here were simply not needed and designed, as noted by the solicitor, to show “character.”

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