RECEIVED

Jan 29 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court Of General Sessions
The Honorable Walton J. McLeod, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001594

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

CANDIE MCKAY SHEARIN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

ANDREW D. POWELL
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

S. R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main St.
Lexington, SC 29072
(803) 785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court did not err in its instruction to the jury.

The trial court properly instructed the jury concerning the requisite level of intent because the terms were properly defined, the court has discretion with particular verbiage, and the instructions sufficiently cover the applicable law.

Relevant Facts

The court instructed the jury as follows: “To act knowingly means to act with knowledge, to consciously, not accidentally. To act willfully means to act voluntarily and intentionally. A willful act like a knowing act is not accident.” (R. 515). Counsel objected to this instruction and requested the following instruction:

Knowingly means that the defendant knew or firmly believed that her actions constituted neglect. Mere suspicion is not enough. See State v. Porterfield, 317 S.C 360, 363, 454 S.C.2d 351, 353, Court of Appeals, 1995. It is also not enough that the facts would be sufficient to put a reasonably prudent person on notice. See, State v. White, 211 S.C. 276, 279; 44 S.E.2d 741, 742, 1947. The question for you is not whether a reasonable person in the defendant's shoes would know that the defendant's actions constituted neglect, rather if you first find that the Defendant's actions constituted neglect, you must then determine if the defendant knew or firmly believed that her actions constituted neglect. Willful means intentional. Willful means it was not done by accident. See South Carolina Criminal Request to Charge Arson in the Third Degree. A willful act is one done voluntarily and intentionally with the specific intent to do something the law forbids or with the specific intent to fail to do something the law requires to be done; that is to say with bad purpose either to disobey or disregard the law. See Spartanburg County Department of Social Services v. Padgett, 296 S.C. 79, 82 through 83, 370 S.E.2d 872, 874, 1988, (quoting Black's Law Dictionary, 1334, Fifth Edition, 1979).

(R. 464-466).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court will only reverse a trial judge's decision regarding jury instructions when that decision constitutes an abuse of discretion resulting in actual prejudice. See Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000) ("An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion."); Rauch v. Zayas, 284 S.C. 594, 597, 327 S.E.2d 377, 378 (Ct. App. 1985) ("[A]n alleged error in a portion of the charge must be prejudicial to the appellant to warrant a new trial.").

Analysis

The purpose of a trial judge's jury instructions is "to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict." State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987). In its instruction, the trial judge must instruct the jury on the substance of the law but is not required to use any particular verbiage. State v. Burkhardt, 350 S.C. 252, 261, 565 S.E.2d 298, 302 (2002). The trial judge may refuse a specific request if the substance of the request is incorporated in the instructions. Burroughs v. Worsham, 352 S.C. 382, 391–92, 574 S.E.2d 215, 220 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing Varnadore v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 289 S.C. 155, 345 S.E.2d 711 (1986)); Brown v. Stewart, 348 S.C. 33, 557 S.E.2d 676 (Ct. App. 2001). Jury instructions are not erroneous if they are substantially correct, sufficiently cover the applicable law, and do not contain comments on the facts. State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 16, 479 S.E.2d 50, 52 (1996).

The Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit has noted it does not "engage in word-by-word hairsplitting when reviewing jury instructions given at trial, because a trial judge is given wide discretion as to the style and wording employed in the instructions." Johnson v. Breeden, 280 F.3d 1308, 1314 (11th Cir. 2002).

The instructions at issue aid the jury's ability to reach a proper verdict. These instructions provide no ambiguity that would give rise to a reasonable mistake as to the elements of the crime; the terms are properly defined. The terms "willful" and "knowing" require little to no elaboration to adequately inform members of the requisite intent. Nonetheless, the court took the time to properly define the terms. The court defined knowing as "to act with knowledge, to consciously, not accidentally." Cf. Black's Law Dictionary (5th ed.) No. 1417 (Defining knowing as having or showing awareness or understanding; well-informed. Deliberate; conscious). The court defined willfully as "to act voluntarily and intentionally. A willful act like a knowing act is not accident." Cf. Black's Law Dictionary (5th ed.) No. 1417 (Defining willful as voluntary and intentional, but not necessarily malicious). This charge contains correct definitions of the relevant terms and adequately covers the applicable law.

The court is not required to use the specific verbiage requested by Appellant. Here, the court declined to use the exact instruction Appellant requested, but the substance of the two instructions were similar. The instructions enlighten the jury and aid its ability to reach a correct verdict. The trial court did not abuse its discretion as to the style and wording of its instructions. The trial court properly instructed the jury concerning the requisite level of intent because the terms were properly defined, the court has discretion with particular verbiage, and the instructions sufficiently cover the applicable law. This court should affirm.

II. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by finding the probative value of photographs was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

The trial court properly found the probative value of the photographs was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice because they depict the situation Victim was left in, corroborate testimony, and aid the jury in determining disputed facts.

Relevant Facts

At trial, Appellant objected to the admittance of Exhibits 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 48, and 60. (R. 124). Appellant objected to these photographs citing Rule 403, SCRE. (R. 125). The State had sixty photographs but selected only sixteen photographs to enter into evidence. (R. 127). The State argued that Appellant failed to show the photographs suggested a decision on an improper basis, even though the images could be considered disturbing. (R. 128-129). The State further argued that the evidence was critical to show “the extent of the physical neglect.” (R. 131). The Court balanced the probative value and possible prejudice when examining the evidence. The Court noted “obviously they’re all tough photographs to look at.” ... “you could argue many, if not all, go toward proving the elements of abuse and neglect.” (R. 122). The Court also noted a need to avoid repetitive pictures and to redact private areas and Victim’s facial expression. (R. 122; 138). The Court stated the photographs corroborate the testimony of Dr. Ross. (R. 123). The Court overruled Appellant’s objection and the photographs were admitted. (R. 252).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice. State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845 (2006).

A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003). Thus, great deference is given to the trial court's judgment. State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. at 357, 543 S.E.2d at 593 (2001).

Analysis

"Probative value is the measure of the importance of that tendency to the outcome of a case." United States v. Stout, 509 F.3d 796, 804 (6th Cir. 2007). It is the weight that a piece of evidence will carry in helping the jury make a determination. "The more essential the evidence, the greater its probative value." Id.

"All evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only unfair prejudice which must be avoided." State v. Bratschi, 413 S.C. 97, 115, 775 S.E.2d 39, 49 (Ct. App. 2015). Evidence that is unfairly prejudicial is evidence that suggests a decision on an improper basis. State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 290, 676 S.E.2d 690, 697 (2009) (quoting State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991)).

This Court has upheld the admission of autopsy photos on several occasions over defendants' Rule 403, SCRE objection. See State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 259, 746 S.E.2d 495, 501 (Ct. App. 2013) (finding no abuse of discretion to admit autopsy photos when the expert "testified the photographs would aid in her testimony"); State v. Jarrell, 350 S.C. 90, 106–07, 564 S.E.2d 362, 371 (Ct. App. 2002) (affirming admission of autopsy photos that "corroborated ... the pathologist's testimony regarding the extent of th[e] injuries"); State v. Thompson, 420 S.C. 192, 215, 802 S.E.2d 623, 635 (Ct. App. 2017) (affirming admission of autopsy photos that helped the jury to understand the nature and extent of Victim's injuries as well as his condition near death).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has also ruled on this issue multiple times. In State v. Kornahrens, the Court affirmed the admittance of photographs during sentencing that depicted the autopsies of two murder victims; the images were admitted, because they “showed what the defendant himself did to the bodies.” State v. Kornahrens, 290 S.C. at 281, 350 S.E.2d at 18 (1986).

Recently, the Court found the admittance of autopsy photos to be a harmless error. State v. Jones, 440 S.C. 214, 264, 891 S.E.2d 347, 373 (2023). In Jones, the Court found that the images did not depict the children's bodies in substantially the same condition in which they were left. Id. 440 S.C. at 262, 891 S.E.2d at 372. Rather, the images showed the advanced stages of decomposition of the bodies. Id. Similarly, in State v. Nelson, the Court found that the probative value of autopsy photographs was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. State v. Nelson, 440 S.C. 413, 891 S.E.2d 508, 515 (2023). The photos were not probative, because they provided no insight as to who killed victim. Id. The court specifically noted “If this were a case ... where the nature of the victim's injuries was in dispute ... the photos may have had sufficient probative value to warrant their admission.” Id.

Conversely, in State v. Torres, the South Carolina Supreme Court found no error in the admission of autopsy photographs during the sentencing phase of the trial. State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 624, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010). Emergency services were called to the scene of a car accident, which led to the discovery of a couple being found in their residence assaulted and murdered. Id. 390 S.C. 618 at 621, S.E.2d at 227. The couple was only able to be identified by autopsy due to the extent of their injuries. Id. Appellant objected to the admittance of autopsy photographs due to their inflammatory nature. Id. 390 S.C. 618 at 623, S.E.2d at 228. The photographs exhibited probative value because they showed the number, location, and manner of

the extensive injuries suffered by the two victims. Id. 390 S.C. 624, S.E2d at 229. The Court found that the prejudicial nature of these photographs did not outweigh the probative impact of the photographs, because the injuries suffered by the victims and the circumstances of the crime in question. Id.

Similarly, in State v. Heyward, our Supreme Court upheld a finding that the probative value of autopsy photographs was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. State v. Heyward, Op. No. 28182 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Oct. 5, 2023). The Court found this because Appellant conceded nothing at trial and the photographs corroborated testimony. Id. at 24-25. The Heyward court noted that when a trial court exercises its discretion in balancing, on the record, unfair prejudice against high probative value the court's ruling will almost always be within its discretion. Id. at 25-26.

Like the photographs in Torres, the photographs entered in this case are disturbing. Yet, the trial judge cannot be said to have abused discretion in admitting them. First, the photographs go directly to the nature and circumstances of the crime. The Court noted "you could argue many, if not all, go toward proving the elements of abuse and neglect." (R. 122). As seen in Torres, photographs of a horrific nature may still be more probative than prejudicial in the Rule 403 balancing test. Here, the photographs depict the circumstances in which the victim was left to die. While the images are disturbing, these images provide probative value in addition to the testimony offered. Like Thompson and unlike Jones, the photographs depict the nature of Victim's injuries near death.

Here, there is a dispute about whether or not Victim was cared for prior to his death, giving the photographs probative value. Like Kornahrens, the images show what Appellant did to Victim. Also, the photographs provide insight to the nature of Victim's injuries which is in

dispute. Appellant contends that there is not a factual dispute, because she did not contest the weight loss, maggots, or presence of an ulcer. (R. 27-28). Nonetheless, the care or lack thereof provided by Appellant is firmly in dispute. (R. 26-28). The photographs provide insight as to the level of neglect provided in the present case by showing Victims emaciated nature, ulcers, and multitude of bug bites. The images also show Victim's hair, feet, toenails, hair, and bed.

When photographs are used to corroborate testimony, it is "well settled" that the ruling is not an abuse of discretion. State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 229 (2010) (citing State v. Nance, 320 S.C. 501, 508, 466 S.E.2d 349, 353 (1996)). State's Exhibits 9 and 10 were introduced to corroborate the testimony of Dr. Janice Ross regarding the decubitus ulcers on Victim's back. (R. 423). State's Exhibits 41-45, 48, and 60 corroborate the testimony of Jessica Wade regarding the condition of Victim when she saw him. (R. 250). The Court noted these photographs had value in that they corroborated the testimony of Dr. Ross. (R. 123).

Lastly, the photographs are not unfairly prejudicial because they do not suggest an improper basis upon which to make a decision. The photographs need not be simply outweighed but must be outweighed substantially. The Court took steps to ensure the photographs were not unfairly prejudicial by redacting private areas and the facial expression of Victim. (R. 138). The photographs accurately depict the state of Victim and speak directly to the circumstance of neglect that the victim was left in.

Even if the photographs were improperly admitted, the error is harmless. "In some cases, the evidence of guilt is so overwhelming, and the prejudicial effect of an improper ruling is so insignificant by comparison, that it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the improper ruling was harmless error." State v. McDonald, 412 S.C. 133, 142, 771 S.E.2d 840, 844 (2015). "There is no definitive rule of law governing harmless error; it must be determined from its relationship

to the entire case.” State v. Simmons, 423 S.C. 552, 566, 816 S.E.2d 566, 573 (2018). The State produced evidence showing that Victim’s cause of death was sepsis due to e-coli entering his bloodstream. (R. 434; 436). Victim’s bloodstream did not contain any of the medicine he was prescribed. (R. 401). Victim was dehydrated and only had a small amount of bile in his stomach. (R. 431). Victim had insect bites on the left side of his body. (R. 426). A witness stated the entire home smelled like urine, rotting garbage, and body odor. (R. 250). Lastly, there was significant testimony regarding the condition of Victim including that he was “emaciated” weighing approximately 40 pounds, he was just skin and bones, his skin was gray he was covered in filth, was laying on a sheet that was covered in feces, and his hair was greasy. (R. 214; 215; 250).

The trial court properly found the probative value of the photographs were not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice because they depict the situation Victim was left in, corroborate testimony, and aid the jury in determining disputed facts.

III. The trial court did not commit reversible error in admitting evidence that established a sufficient chain of custody.

The State properly established a sufficient chain of custody because the blood samples did not become fungible until after they were extracted from the body.

Relevant Facts

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